IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

10/25/2021

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 18-0597

No. DA 18-0597

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

VAUGHN DAVID JAMES,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court, Lake County, the Honorable Deborah K. Christopher, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CHAD WRIGHT
Chief Appellate Defender
MOSES OKEYO
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
MoOkeyo@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court misapply Rule 404(b) by precluding evidence tending to prove James's accuser was motivated to testify falsely to avoid jail time for violating terms of her conditional release?
- 2. Did the trial court unduly curtail James's right to mount a complete defense when it denied him broad latitude to cross-examine and impeach his accuser about the leniency she received?
- 3. Did the chief prosecutor's conflict of interest deprive the entire Lake County Attorney Office (LCAO) of authority to prosecute James?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Vaughn David James appeals from the judgment of the Twentieth Judicial District Court, Lake County, following a jury verdict finding him guilty of sexual intercourse without consent (SIWOC). (D.C. Doc. 119, attached as App. A, at 1.)

The State charged James by Information of SIWOC for allegedly raping his aunt Marilyn Noel. (See D.C. Docs. 2, 4.) James's first trial for this offense resulted in a mistrial. (6/14/17 Tr. at 528.)

At re-trial, James, through counsel, moved in limine to admit evidence relating to Noel's pending criminal charges, specifically her noncompliance with conditions of release, to show that she had a motive to fabricate the allegation against James. (D.C. Doc. 44 at 2–3.) James argued Noel used the alleged rape as an excuse for why she violated the 24/7 drug and alcohol monitoring requirements, and thus she had a clear motivation to fabricate to avoid jail time. The State argued the pending criminal charge against Noel in Sanders County had no bearing on her character for truthfulness and would have no impeachment value to her credibility in making her accusation against James. (See D.C. Doc. 52 at 3.)

At the evidentiary hearing on his motion in limine, James argued Noel's pending charges were admissible reverse Rule 404(B) evidence. (5/18/17 Tr. at 21.) The State acknowledged that the "bond issue" tended to show Noel's motive to fabricate: "The other issue is the bond issue. I think that is the one that is the more interesting because it goes to motivation to fabricate." (5/18/17 Tr. at 16–17.) However, the State disavowed giving Noel special considerations for her pending charges: "There's no basis regarding the pending Lake County cases to

in any way to assume she got consideration for her victim status with our office." (5/18/17 Tr. at 16–17.)

Even though the State acknowledged the "bond issue" tended to prove Noel's motive to fabricate, the trial court excluded this proffered evidence: "I'm sure the supreme court can straighten it out." (5/18/17 Tr. at 23.)

Noel's Pending Charges

On June 9, 2016, Sanders County charged Noel by Information of several offenses: Count I, felony driving under the influence—punishable by 13 months at the Department of Corrections followed by up to five years suspended sentence, and a fine between \$1,000 and \$10,000; Count II, driving without a valid driver's license; and Count III, misdemeanor driving without valid insurance. (State v. Noel, DC-16–51 ("Noel"), D.C. Docs. 1, 3 at 1–2, attached as App G.) Noel had been arrested and held on \$25,000 bond. On June 18, 2016, Noel was released on her own recognizance on condition that she participate in the 24/7 sobriety and drug monitoring and wear an alcohol monitoring device at her own expense. (Noel, Doc. 33, at 2, attached as App. D.) At Noel's January 24, 2017 omnibus hearing, her counsel acknowledged

she missed the scheduled monitoring. (App. D at 2.) The State moved to revoke her conditional release for that. (App. D at 2.) On February 7, 2017, despite Noel missing drug and alcohol monitoring, the parties filed an "unopposed motion" to not revoke her bond and to excuse her from drug and alcohol monitoring. (*Noel*, Doc. 34, at 2, attached as App. E.)

The reason Noel received lenient treatment was because her counsel persuaded the trial court Noel missed her scheduled testing in Polson because she had been traumatized after suffering a violent sexual assault the previous night at the hands of her nephew James. (CDC-2016-352: Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, attached as App. F at 1.)

Instead of revoking Noel's release and imposing bond, the trial court "excused" her missed "scheduled blows" on account of the alleged rape, and released on her own recognizance after excusing her from daily alcohol and drug monitoring. (App. F at 1; see also, D.C. Doc. 54 at 4.)

The resolution to Noel's pending charges was lenient. On June 21, 2017, Noel pleaded guilty to a lesser charge of criminal endangerment

and received a five-year suspended sentence—instead of 13 months in DOC and a five-year suspended sentence statutorily required for a felony DUI. (Unopposed Motion to Amend Noel's Conditions of Release attached as App. E at 6.) For driving without a valid license, Noel was sentenced to the two days she already served. (App. E at 7.) Noel received minimal fines for her third misdemeanor. (See App. E at 7.)

Sentence

Following a two-day trial, the district court sentenced James, as a persistent felony offender, to 100 years to the Montana State Prison and rendered him ineligible for parole for 50 years and also designated him a level-III sexual offender. (7/5/18 Tr. at 32.)

James filed a timely appeal. (D.C. Doc. 123.)

On January 17, 2020, James, through appellate counsel Koan Mercer, successfully moved this Court to remand for an evidentiary hearing on whether LCAO should be disqualified from prosecuting James.

The trial court had filed a complaint with the Office of
Disciplinary Complaints (ODC) against Steven Eschenbacher, the
County Attorney. The ODC concluded Eschenbacher did not commit

any ethical violation. (3/29/21 Tr. at 75.) Following the evidentiary hearing, the district court concluded there was no legal basis for disqualifying the entire office from James's prosecution because there was no evidence Eschenbacher violated any rules of professional conduct. (App. F at 13.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Marilyn Noel is James's half-aunt on his father's side. (6/14/17 Tr. at 461.) Noel is just nine years James's senior. (6/14/17 Tr. at 462–63; 6/12/17 Tr. at 161.) Throughout James's teenage years into early adulthood, Noel flirted with him. (See 6/14/17 Tr. at 463.) There was a bit of attraction between them. (6/14/17 Tr. at 463.) The family was not close knit—James and Noel would go a year or two sometimes before seeing each other. (6/14/17 Tr. at 464.) Recently, Noel had been homeless and on September 15, 2016, James's mother Diane opened her home to Noel. (6/12/17 Tr. at 162; see 7/12/17 Tr. at 414–5.)

On September 17, 2016, James came to his mother's house around 2:00 a.m. after the bars closed. (6/14/17 Tr. at 464.) James had had a couple of beers—but was not drunk— and he stopped over at his mom's rather than drive home. (6/14/17 Tr. at 464.) He did not know Noel was

staying there. (6/14/17 Tr. at 464.) When James first entered, Noel jumped off the couch, ran to him, and flirtatiously called him her "goodlooking" nephew as she hugged him. (6/14/17 Tr. at 464; 7/12/17 Tr. at 417.) James's visit was brief, his mother smelled alcohol on his breath, and asked him to leave. (6/14/17 Tr. at 464; 7/12/17 Tr. at 416-17 ("You don't show up at [Diane's] house with alcohol on your breath. It's a rule. Everybody knows it.").) As James started to leave, Noel whispered he should return later. (6/14/17 Tr. at 467-68.) A curious James returned around 3:30 a.m. (6/14/17 Tr. at 467-68.) Noel had stayed up watching television—waiting. (7/12/17 at 421.) The door to Diane's house was always deadbolted shut—for security reasons. (6/14/17 Tr. at 467–68.) James tapped on the window, so as not to wake his mother. (6/14/17 Tr. at 468-69.) Noel had preferred to sleep on the couch instead of the spare bedroom Diane offered. Noel let James in. (6/14/17 Tr. at 469.) James and Noel started to "conversate" in soft whispers—Diane was asleep her room with her bedroom door wide open as she always does. (6/14/17 Tr. at 469.) James massaged Noel's calves and feet, and things progressed into consensual sex that lasted 15 to 20 minutes. (6/14/17 Tr. at 469.)

Noel later alleged James broke into his own mother's residence without waking Diane nor Noel up, and forcibly had sex with Noel. Noel testified she was asleep on the couch in Diane's living room. (6/12/17 Tr. at 166.) Noel had gone to bed fully clothed, but she told the jury she did not wake up while James removed his clothes, removed her underwear, pulled her nightgown to the side, and climbed on top of her. (6/12/17 Tr. at 169-70.) She awoke naked, on her back with James naked on top of her. (See 6/12/17 Tr. at 169, 174.) James allegedly was inserting his finger into her vagina and "That was part of waking up to him." (See 6/12/17 Tr. at 169, 193.) James then allegedly pinned her down with his hands while simultaneously licking her face and breasts. (See 6/12/17 Tr. at 169.) James allegedly "entered" her vagina with his penis. (6/12/17 Tr. at 171–72.) For the first time on the stand, Noel said James also tried to "go down on" her—to wit, perform oral sex. (See 6/12/17 Tr. at 194–95.)

Later, on cross-examination, Noel admitted she had told a SANE nurse that she was not sure whether James entered her vagina with his penis. (6/12/17 Tr. at 171–72; 193.) Noel had previously told the jury James broke down his mother's door, but on cross-examination she

could not explain how the door remained intact—with no signs of forced entry. (See 6/12/17 Tr. at 191.)

Diane was asleep with her bedroom door wide open—Diane gets "claustrophobic" behind closed doors. (7/12/17 Tr. at 420.) Noel had told the jury she tried to scream for help, but James covered her mouth with his hands while still holding her down with his hands. (See 6/12/17 Tr. at 170.) Diane was sleeping next door but she did not hear any commotion or screaming during those 15 to 20 minutes. (7/12/17 Tr. at 421 ("Oh, heavens no. It was quiet as a mouse.").) Nothing was out of place in Diane's living room.

In closing, the State exploited the lack of evidence supportive of Noel's motive to fabricate to argue Noel had nothing to gain and would not have put herself through the trauma of making the accusation and testifying at trial if the accusation was not true. (See 7/13/17 Tr. 501–03, 510, 533–34, 537–38.)

Eschenbacher's conflict of interest

In 2011, LCAO had charged James with SIWOC. (12/7/20 Tr. at 17, 30-31.) Attorney James Lapotka, who is currently LCAO's Chief Criminal Deputy Prosecutor, prosecuted that 2011 SIWOC case.

(12/7/20 Tr. at 17, 30–31.) James's public defenders were Steve Eschenbacher and Amanda Gordon. (3/29/21 Tr. at 32.) Eschenbacher, as counsel, learned personal things about James's family, his childhood sexual abuse, and his personal flaws. (See 3/29/21 Tr. at 7.) The 2011 trial resulted in a mistrial by hung jury. (12/7/20 Tr. at 36; 3/29/21 Tr. at 8.) After which the alleged victim committed suicide. (12/7/20 Tr. at 44.)

Contemporaneously, the Missoula County Attorney's Office prosecuted James for an unrelated SIWOC charge. (12/7/21 Tr. at 36.) James was acquitted of that charge.

Steve Eschenbacher was elected as Lake County Attorney in 2014 and he took office in January 2015. (3/29/21 Tr. at 31.) Eschenbacher consulted with Betsy Brandborg, of the State Bar of Montana, about potential conflicts of interest when his former clients are prosecuted by LCAO. (3/29/21 Tr. at 51–52.) LCAO uses Justware as its case management system. (3/29/21 Tr. at 42; 65–66.) When Eschenbacher left the Office of the Public Defender in 2014 to become the chief prosecutor at LCAO, a conflict check procedure was initiated. (See 3/29/21 Tr. at 42; 65–66.)

The present SIWOC case was assigned to Deputy Lake County
Attorney Brendan McQuillan who prepared and filed the charges. But
the prosecution could only proceed under Chief Prosecutor
Eschenbacher's authority even though he had previously represented
James. (12/7/20 Tr. at 8.) Amanda Gordon, James's former co-counsel
in his first, was again appointed to represent James on the 2016
SWIOC prosecution. (3/29/21 Tr. at 8–9.)

On the stand, Eschenbacher claimed he holds a favorable opinion of James and believed James was innocent of the 2011 SIWOC charges. (3/29/21 Tr. at 35, 44.) He did not recall receiving sensitive attorney-client information when he was representing James. James had maintained his innocence and provided no information inconsistent with innocence. (3/29/21 Tr. at 35–36, 70–71.) Eschenbacher was adamant he did not review any of the discovery in the present case and did not share his opinion of James with McQuillan. (3/29/21 Tr. at 37; 12/7/20 Tr. at 15.) Eschenbacher denied directing McQuillan regarding how to prosecute James or talking with McQuillan about the present prosecution or his prior defense of James. (12/7/20 Tr. at 14, 27; 3/29/21

Tr. at 44, 74). McQuillan's was supervised by James Lapotka. (12/7/20 Tr. at 21, 42.)

Despite not prosecuting the case, Eschenbacher, as county attorney, maintained an active interest in this prosecution, even going so far as to approach defense counsel Gordon to ask her whether James had accepted a plea deal. (3/29/21 Tr. at 12.) To Gordon, Eschenbacher's question raised red flags. (3/29/21 Tr. at 12.) Eschenbacher later claimed he did not know whether a plea offer existed, nor its particulars. (3/29/21 Tr. at 69.) Eschenbacher acknowledged that James Lapotka had used the phrase "Teflon Vaughn" in his presence to suggest that James was a serial rapist who always beat several SIWOC charges against him. (3/29/21 Tr. at 53.) Eschenbacher disavowed holding the same view of James. (3/29/21 Tr. at 53.) At arraignment, an LCAO prosecutor dubbed James a "serial rapist" and requested a high bond—bond was set for \$250,000. Four out of the five attorneys at LCAO colloquially branded James "Teflon Vaughn" because juries always acquitted James whenever the State brought sex charges against him. (See 3/19/21 Tr. at 23-26; 53; 95.)

At the March 2021 evidentiary hearing, James testified that in 2011 he met with Eschenbacher on multiple occasions. (3/29/21 Tr. at 77-78.) Eschenbacher learned that James was sexually abused during his childhood. (3/29/21 Tr. at 79.) James was concerned when he realized LCAO was leading his prosecution under Eschenbacher's authority. (3/29/21 Tr. at 80.)

During the first trial, McQuillan's paralegal, Vera Johnson, consulted Eschenbacher about whether to play a DVD recording of a 911 call to the jury. (12/7/20 Tr. at 47, 50–51; 3/29/21 Tr. at 73.) Johnson initially denied any involvement, but later on crossexamination she admitted to consulting Eschenbacher about playing that DVD for the jury. (12/7/20 Tr. at 48; 50–53; 3/29/21 Tr. at 73.) Johnson's trial consultation with Eschenbacher was only brought to the trial court's attention because defense counsel overheard the prosecution discussing the DVD. (12/7/20 Tr. at 15–16.) McQuillan testified he did not remember Eschenbacher being present in the courtroom during the two trials. (12/7/20 Tr. at 21–22.) But Eschenbacher admitted he went into the courtroom once or twice to supervise McQuillan's performance. (See 3/29/21 Tr. at 55.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

James sought to put on evidence that Noel had a motive to fabricate a sexual assault claim against him to excuse her bond violations and garner a lenient sentence. Although the State readily acknowledged the bond violation evidence was relevant to Noel's potential motive to fabricate, the trial court disallowed any information about the status of her pending criminal proceedings by misapplying Rule 404(B) and precluding James from introducing this highly probative evidence at trial.

Additionally, the trial court curtailed James's opportunity to cross examine Noel regarding her motive to testify falsely against him.

James was constitutionally entitled to have the jury weigh this impeachment evidence during its determination of the credibility of Noel's accusations. The error was not harmless. James's first prosecution resulted in a hung jury. At re-trial, the assessment of James's and Noel's credibility was central to this case. This was not a situation in which the State's evidence was overwhelming and conviction was inevitable.

Moreover, in his new role as elected minister of justice, James's former attorney, Steve Eschenbacher, maintained both apparent and actual control over the matter against James for which he was supposedly recused. This case involved the impermissible threat that prosecutor Eschenbacher could improperly use confidential information obtained during his prior representation of James. The Court must reverse and remand with instructions that James receive a new trial with a special prosecutor.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court exercises plenary review over issues of constitutional law. *State v. Daniels*, 2011 MT 278, ¶ 11, 362 Mont. 426, 265 P.3d 623. This Court generally reviews a district court's ruling regarding the admissibility of other crimes, wrongs, or acts for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Crider*, 2014 MT 139, ¶ 14, 375 Mont. 187, 328 P.3d 612. District courts have broad discretion to determine the admissibility of evidence. *State v. Madplume*, 2017 MT 40, ¶ 19, 386 Mont. 368, 390 P.3d 142.

To the extent an evidentiary ruling is based on a district court's interpretation of the Montana Rules of Evidence, the Court's review is de novo. Madplume, ¶ 19.

The standard of review on a motion to disqualify counsel is abuse of discretion. Schuff v. A.T. Klemens & Son, 2000 MT 357, ¶ 26, 303 Mont. 274, 16 P.3d 1002. "Ultimately, it is this Court's 'constitutional mandate to fashion and interpret the Rules of Professional Conduct.' A district court therefore commits reversible error if it misapplies those rules." Krutzfeldt Ranch, LLC v. Pinnacle Bank, 2012 MT 15, ¶ 14, 363 Mont. 366, 272 P.3d 635 (citing In re Rules of Prof'l Conduct, 2000 MT 110, ¶ 9, 299 Mont. 321, 2 P.3d 806.).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in excluding evidence under Rule 404(b) which tended to show James's accuser, Noel was motivated to testify falsely against him to avoid jail time for violating terms of her conditional release.

Evidence of prior bad acts is admissible under Rule 404(b) if the proponent can "clearly articulate how that evidence fits into a chain of logical inferences, no link of which may be the inference that the defendant has the propensity to commit the crime charged." *State v*.

Clifford, 2005 MT 219, ¶ 48, 328 Mont. 300, 121 P.3d 489 (quoting and citing United States v. Himelwright, 42 F.3d 777, 782 (3rd Cir. 1994)).

The admissibility of 'reverse 404(b)' evidence depends on a straightforward balancing of the evidence's probative value against considerations such as undue waste of time and confusion of the issues. Clifford, ¶ 44. That is, such evidence must be reviewed under the chain of inferences it creates to determine its admissibility. See Clifford, ¶¶ 50-51. The trial court permitted references to specific acts of incest in Clifford, although it ruled details about those specific acts were cumulative. Clifford, ¶ 51.

It is necessary to look at the chain of inference created by the specific acts Noel committed. Where a chain of inference leads to something irrelevant to the crime at issue—such as in *Clifford* where the individual's act of previously vandalizing a car did not create a chain of inferences he must have committed incest—that evidence is inadmissible propensity evidence. *Clifford*, ¶ 50. "The distinction between admissible and inadmissible Rule 404(b) evidence turns on the intended purpose of the evidence, not its substance." *Madplume*, ¶ 23.

Here, challenged evidence was intended for permissible purposes that do not depend upon Noel's character propensity. James clearly articulated a permissible purpose not barred by Rule 404. *See Salvagni*, ¶¶ 59-62.

A. Motive To Testify Falsely

"It is difficult to imagine a greater motivation to lie than the inducement of a reduced sentence." *United States v. Cervantes-Pacheco*, 826 F.2d 310, 315 (5th Cir. 1987). This Court has said: "Bias or motive of a witness to testify falsely is not a collateral issue because it bears directly on the issue of the defendant's guilt; thus, extrinsic evidence is admissible to prove that the witness has a motive to testify falsely." *State v. Gommenginger*, 242 Mont. 265, 272, 790 P.2d 455, 460 (1990) (citations omitted).

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