IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 18-0597

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

VAUGHN DAVID JAMES,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court,
Lake County, The Honorable Deborah K. Christopher, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
MARDELL PLOYHAR
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
Fax: 406-444-3549
mployhar@mt.gov

BRENDAN D. McQUILLAN
Deputy Lake County Attorney
106 Fourth Avenue East
Polson, MT 59860

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
AND APPELLEE

CHAD WRIGHT
Chief Appellate Defender
MOSES OKEYO
Assistant Appellate Defender

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded evidence about Marilyn's DUI because James did not present a logical theory that would have made the evidence relevant for a nonpropensity purpose. James's claim that Marilyn may have fabricated being raped in Lake County to obtain favorable

treatment from prosecutors in Sanders County, where she had a pending DUI and had failed to participate in alcohol monitoring, was inconsistent with his assertion that she did not want to report the rape to law enforcement. Because he failed to provide a logical theory for the admission of Marilyn's prior bad acts, the evidence was not admissible under Mont. R. Evid. 401, 403, and 404(b). Further, the exclusion of that evidence did not violate James's right to present a defense because the evidence rules under which the evidence was excluded are not arbitrary and disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve. Finally, even if the Court erred in excluding the evidence, it was harmless because there is not a reasonable possibility that it would have changed the outcome.

Additionally, when the district court addressed the challenge to the LCAO on remand, the court correctly concluded that disqualification of the LCAO and a new trial were not warranted. James waived his challenge to the prosecution by the LCAO when he failed to file a motion to disqualify any time before his conviction. He also failed to demonstrate that the office should have been disqualified because it was a different matter than the case Eschenbacher represented James in, Eschenbacher was not the prosecutor in this case and did not give the prosecutor information he learned from his representation of James, and James was not prejudiced by being prosecuted by an attorney in the LCAO.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court has broad discretion when determining the relevance and admissibility of evidence. Accordingly, this Court generally reviews evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion. *State v. Lotter*, 2013 MT 336, ¶ 13, 372 Mont. 445, 313 P.3d 459. To the extent the court's ruling is based on an interpretation of a rule of evidence, a statute, or a constitutional right, however, this Court's review is de novo. *Lotter*, ¶ 13.

Whether to disqualify counsel is within a district court's discretionary powers, so this Court reviews the denial of a motion to disqualify for an abuse of discretion. *Schuff v. A.T. Klemens & Son*, 2000 MT 357, 303 Mont. 274, 16 P.3d 1002.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court properly excluded evidence about Marilyn's pending DUI because the charge was irrelevant and also inadmissible under Mont. R. Evid. 403 and 404(b).

Evidence about Marilyn's DUI was inadmissible under Mont. R. Evid. 401 because it was irrelevant, and it was inadmissible under Rule 404(b) because it was not relevant to a nonpropensity purpose. Also, if there was some relevance, the marginal relevance was substantially outweighed by the danger of confusing the jury and wasting time on collateral issues, making the evidence inadmissible under Rule 403.

As an initial matter, the State notes that James argued in the district court that evidence concerning Marilyn’s DUI was admissible because her failure to comply with the conditions of her release on bond gave her a reason to fabricate the rape allegation to avoid a revocation of her bond. (Doc. 44.) On appeal, James has expanded his argument to argue that Marilyn had a motivation to testify falsely against James to appear sympathetic to the State. (Appellant’s Br. at 22.) Because James has waived any argument not raised in the district court, the State addresses only the argument he preserved. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-104(2) (“Failure to make a timely objection during trial constitutes a waiver of the objection except as provided in 46-20-701(2).”); *State v. Martinez*, 2003 MT 65, ¶ 17, 314 Mont. 434, 67 P.3d 307 (noting that this Court “will not address an issue raised for the first time on appeal.”).

Rule 404(b) provides that “[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.” To admit evidence of prior bad acts, “the proponent must clearly articulate how that evidence fits into a chain of logical inferences, no link of which may be the inference that the defendant has the propensity to commit the

crime charged.” *State v. Clifford*, 2005 MT 219, ¶ 48, 328 Mont. 300, 121 P.3d 489 (quotation marks and citations omitted).

A defendant may introduce evidence of another witness’s crimes or conduct, known as “reverse 404(b) evidence,” to support his defense if it tends to negate the defendant’s guilt of the crime charged against him. *United States v. Alayeto*, 628-F.3d 917, 921 (7th Cir. 2010). But a “defendant may not introduce reverse 404(b) evidence where it lacks connection with the crime, is speculative or remote, or does not tend to prove or disprove a material fact in issue at the defendant’s trial.” *State v. Giddings*, 2009 MT 61, ¶ 88, 349 Mont. 347, 208 P.3d 363. To be admissible, “the proffered reverse 404(b) evidence must be relevant, must not constitute inadmissible hearsay, and must survive the balancing of competing considerations under Rule 403.” *Alayeto*, 628 F.3d at 921 (internal citations omitted).

A. Clarification of the facts

James incorrectly claims in his brief that the State “readily acknowledged the bond violation evidence was relevant to [Marilyn’s] potential motive to fabricate[.]” (Appellant’s Br. at 14; *see also id.* at 2.) During the discussion about the admissibility of Marilyn’s charges, the prosecutor shifted from another topic to Marilyn’s potential bond revocation by stating the “bond issue . . . is the one that is the more interesting because it goes to motivation to fabricate.” (5/18/17 Tr. at 16.) When viewed in its context, that statement is not a concession that the bond issue

was relevant to Marilyn's motive to fabricate. Instead, the prosecutor appeared to be identifying the legal issue. The prosecutor repeatedly argued that Marilyn's release on bond was irrelevant because there was no evidence indicating that she would have believed that fabricating a rape allegation would have given her special treatment from a neighboring county for her DUI charge. (*Id.* at 5, 16-19.) The prosecutor stated that James's assertion that Marilyn's DUI and bond conditions gave her a motive to fabricate "defies total logic" and was too implausible and speculative to establish relevance. (*Id.* at 16-19.) The State clearly argued that the evidence of Marilyn's DUI charge was irrelevant in this case.

James also asserts that he proffered evidence demonstrating that Marilyn went to Lake County Deputy Attorney James Lopatka, who prosecuted Marilyn for drug possession, that Lopatka sent an email to the Sanders County prosecutor stating that Marilyn was a rape victim, and that Marilyn later successfully avoided having her bond revoked because she had been sexually assaulted. (Appellant's Br. at 21.) These assertions are incorrect for several reasons. First, James did not proffer any evidence about Marilyn's other charges except for the charging document and case register. (Doc. 44, Exs. A, B.)¹ In the trial court, James

¹On April 14, 2022, the State filed a motion to strike appendices and assertions of fact from Appellant's opening brief because he has attached documents from Marilyn's Sander's County case that are not part of the record in this case. This Court has not yet ruled on the State's motion.

referred to records that he may have had, but he did not provide them to the court. (5/18/17 Tr. at 4-5.) Second, many of the statements from James's counsel appear to be unsupported speculation that were not supported by any records. For example, James claimed that Marilyn was "at large, mainly because of her status as a rape [victim] now," but he failed to provide any support to that assertion. (5/18/17 Tr. at 4-5.) Furthermore, even the unsupported assertions of trial counsel do not support the claims made by James's appellate counsel. (*Compare* 5/18/17 Tr. at 4-5, *with* Appellant's Br. at 4.) Nothing James's trial counsel stated indicated that there was any evidence that Lopatka called Sanders County on Marilyn's behalf. (*See* 5/18/17 Tr. at 4-5.) James's factual assertions on page 21 of his brief are unsupported and should not be considered.

B. Mont. R. Evid. 401

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded evidence that Marilyn had a pending DUI charge and violated bond conditions in a neighboring county because James failed to demonstrate that that evidence made it more likely that she would have fabricated the allegations against him. He therefore failed to establish the relevance of Marilyn's criminal case.

Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Mont. R. Evid. 401. James argued

Marilyn may have fabricated the rape allegation in order to be viewed as a victim and avoid having her bond revoked for failing to take a breath test the day before.

The idea that a person would fabricate being raped by her nephew, and report that rape to the nephew's mother, thinking that prosecutors in a neighboring county would then not revoke her bond for her failure to take a breath test the day before, is implausible. Further, that theory lost any potential merit when James insisted that Marilyn did not want the rape to be reported. (*See* 5/18/17 Tr. at 9.) Marilyn could not have fabricated a rape in Lake County in hopes that she would get favorable treatment from prosecutors in Sanders County if she did not want to or plan to report the rape. The district court correctly concluded that James failed to demonstrate that the evidence about Marilyn's pending DUI fit into a chain of logical inferences. (5/18/17 Tr. at 22-23.) The district court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded the evidence because the evidence did not have any tendency to make it more probable that Marilyn had fabricated the allegations.

C. Mont. R. Evid. 403

Rule 403 allows courts to exclude relevant evidence “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” “[U]nfair prejudice against the

government occurs when the evidence tends to make the jury more likely to find a defendant not guilty *despite* the proof beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Clifford*, ¶ 45. In *Clifford*, this Court held that reverse 404(b) evidence was properly excluded where the probative value was very low and was substantially outweighed by the waste of time and needless presentation of cumulative evidence. *Clifford*, ¶ 53. Similarly, the Seventh Circuit upheld the exclusion of reverse 404(b) evidence in *Alayeto*, where the relevance was minimal and it was substantially outweighed by the risk of confusion and the delay that would have been caused by bringing in additional witnesses. 628 F.3d at 921-23.

If this Court concludes there was any probative value to evidence about Marilyn’s DUI, the minimal probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of confusing the issues and wasting time. Presenting evidence about Marilyn’s DUI would have required additional evidence about Marilyn’s charge pending in another county and about her compliance with the conditions of her bond. Because that charge was irrelevant to this case, it would likely have confused the jury. Although the district court did not explicitly rely on Rule 403, the court would not have abused its discretion in excluding the evidence under Rule 403 because the danger of confusing the issues and wasting time substantially outweighed any potential probative value, which was limited.

D. Mont. R. Evid. 404(b)

Evidence concerning Marilyn’s DUI and bond conditions was also inadmissible because James failed to demonstrate that it was admissible for a nonpropensity purpose. Evidence of another witness’s criminal acts is properly excluded where the defendant seeks to admit the evidence to show that another person had the propensity to commit the offense. *Giddings*, ¶¶ 87-89, 93; *Clifford*, ¶¶ 49-50. The evidence is also inadmissible where the defendant “fail[s] to create a chain of logical inferences between the evidence and [the offense.]” *Giddings*, ¶ 91 (quoting *Clifford*, ¶ 48, and *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 327 (2006); quotation marks omitted); *see also Giddings*, ¶ 93.

In contrast, *State v. Flowers*, 2018 MT 96, 391 Mont. 237, 416 P.3d 180, provides an example of admissible reverse 404(b) evidence. In *Flowers*’s trial for possessing drugs located in his vehicle, the court excluded evidence that the passenger, who pled guilty to possessing the drugs in *Flowers*’s vehicle, had other pending drug offenses that were resolved as part of a global plea agreement. *Flowers*, ¶¶ 2-9. That exclusion prevented *Flowers* from impeaching the passenger’s testimony indicating that she had not received favorable treatment. *Flowers*, ¶ 19. This Court held that the evidence about the passenger’s plea agreement was improperly excluded because it was relevant to impeach her credibility and to show her motive for testifying against *Flowers*. *Flowers*, ¶ 21.

Unlike Flowers, James failed to create a chain of logical inferences between Marilyn's DUI offense and her allegations against James, which James insisted she did not personally report and was reluctant to report. Marilyn's DUI charge in Sanders County was unrelated to her allegation against James in Lake County. James's argument that the evidence was admissible to show that Marilyn had a motive to fabricate her allegations was inconsistent with his claim that Marilyn did not personally report the offense and did not want it to be reported. (5/18/17 Tr. at 22-23.) Because he failed to connect his evidence to a nonpropensity purpose, the evidence would have improperly suggested that Marilyn should not be trusted because she had a pending criminal charge. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded evidence that did not have a relevant nonpropensity purpose.

E. Harmless error

Finally, even if the court erred in excluding evidence about Marilyn's DUI case under the rules of evidence, the error was harmless because there is no reasonable possibility that the exclusion of the evidence contributed to the conviction. *See State v. Garding*, 2013 MT 355, ¶ 31, 373 Mont. 16, 315 P.3d 912 (citing standard). DNA evidence demonstrated that James had sexual intercourse with his Aunt Marilyn. When she reported the offense the next day, her distraught demeanor was consistent with her description of being raped by James. (*See State's*

Ex. 2; 7/12/17 Tr. at 240-42, 320.) James presented a theory that Marilyn had a motive to fabricate the rape to obtain a benefit with housing. The jury rejected that theory. The jury was not any more likely to have believed a theory that Marilyn fabricated being raped after having sex with her nephew to obtain favorable treatment from prosecutors in a neighboring county, particularly in light of Diana's testimony that she did not believe Marilyn thought she would report the rape. Therefore, the exclusion of that evidence is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

II. Exclusion of evidence about Marilyn's DUI did not violate James's right to present a defense.

As explained above, James preserved only the issue of whether evidence of Marilyn's DUI and failure to comply with bond conditions was admissible as evidence of a motive to fabricate her allegation against James. (*See* Doc. 44.) Without evidence, James suggested in the trial court that Marilyn had obtained favorable treatment in Sanders County and did not have her bond revoked because of her status as a victim. (5/18/17 Tr. at 4-5.) The Sanders County case was still pending, so the plea agreement that was subsequently reached in that case was not discussed. When reviewing whether the district court abused its discretion, this Court is limited to the arguments and information that were before the district court.

Exclusion of the evidence about Marilyn's pending DUI did not violate her right to present a defense. Defendants have a right to present a defense rooted in

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